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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mrs J Marston

	Plan
	:
	The SVM Pension Plan (the SVM Plan)

	Respondents
	:
	Former and Current Trustees of the SVM Plan


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Mrs Marston states that she was informed, in March 1998, that the Plan was to be wound-up, and she requested a transfer of her benefits. She states that this transfer was not actioned. Mrs Marston further states that the Trustees obstructed the progress of her transfer and refused to answer correspondence from her solicitors and financial advisers. She also states that the Trustees authorised a payment of £105,000 to the Company despite the fact that the Plan was, at the time, under-funded.
2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

TRUSTEES

3. Rule 6 of the Rules attached to the Definitive Deed dated 11 March 1978 provides,
“TRUSTEES: APPOINTMENT AND RETIREMENT
(1)
The Statutory power of appointing new Trustees of the Scheme shall be vested in the Principal Company and on any exercise of such power the number of Trustees may be altered as the Principal Company shall think fit and so that the number shall not be less than two; provided that 

(a)
the Principal Company may at its discretion appoint a corporation to act as sole Trustee of the Scheme and

(b)
any corporation so appointed may receive from the Fund and be paid such remuneration as the Principal Company may determine and such remuneration shall for all purposes of the Scheme be treated as an expense of administration thereof.

(2)
The Principal Company may call upon any Trustee to retire by serving upon such Trustee seven days’ notice in writing to that effect which shall be delivered to him or sent by registered post to his last known address, or in the case of a corporation to the registered office of such corporation, and at the expiration of any such notice the Trustees therein named shall be deemed to have retired from the trust and shall execute such documents and take such other action as may be necessary to give proper effect to such retirement.”
4. A Deed of Appointment and Retirement dated 20 December 1995 named Mr C as “continuing Trustee” and Mr J B as “new Trustee”.
5. Mr J B retired under a Deed of Removal and Appointment dated 12 January 2001, which appointed Mr S as a “new Trustee”.

6. Mr S retired under a Deed of Removal and Appointment dated 8 June 2002, which appointed Mr L as a “new Trustee”.

7. The Law Debenture Pension Trust Corporation plc (Law Debenture) were appointed by the Pensions Regulator on 17 June 2004, with exclusive power.

8. Rule 15 provides,
“TRUSTEES: LIABILITY
No Trustee shall be responsible, chargeable or liable in any manner whatsoever for or in respect of any loss of or any depreciation or default upon any of the investments or bank or other deposits of policies in or upon which the Fund or any part thereof may at any time be invested or deposited or for any delay which may occur from whatever cause in investments or for the safety of any securities or documents of title deposited by the Trustees for safe custody or for the exercise of any discretionary power vested in the Trustees under the Scheme or by reason of any matter or thing except wilful default on the part of the Trustee who is sought to be made liable.”
MATERIAL FACTS

Background

9. In July 1997, the John Lamb Partnership (JLP), who were then providing financial advice to the Trustees, wrote to Mr C, who, in addition to being a Trustee, was managing director of SVM plc (SVM) (the Principal Company) concerning the cost of buying-out the members’ benefits under the SVM Plan. JLP referred to a recent valuation, which had indicated that the SVM plan’s assets amounted to £1,317,163. They said that there were four pensioners, whose benefits would have to be secured, at an estimated cost of £118,000. JLP said that they had obtained a quote from Britannia Life for securing the rest of the members’ benefits and this amounted to around £1,500,000. They went on to say,
“We have discussed the disparity between the current funds (c£1,199,163 after buying out the pensioners) and the amount required to buy out the benefits on a guaranteed basis and both Britannia Life and Scottish Equitable are concerned that the scheme may not be in surplus as you are being advised by SBJ. We have asked the SBJ actuaries to liaise with the actuaries at Britannia Life to see if this issue can be resolved. As yet they have not resolved this issue.

A bulk buy out is clearly not feasible at this juncture unless you were able to fund the difference of c£300,000.

Each member to transfer his/her benefits to an individual policy
SBJ are quoting transfer values of £912,760 based on the transfer factors that you and the actuaries have agreed. If these transfer values hold on any changes to the minimum funding requirements (MFR) following the changes to pension fund recovery of ACT then there would be a surplus but this would almost undoubtedly be fully utilised in terms of you having to provide escalation on the benefits at a higher level – as required in terms of the treatment of surpluses on wind up.

…

I have looked at enhancing the overall funds for both the actives and deferreds by a fixed percentage, or enhancing either the protected rights or non protected rights funds separately. The trustees would be able to enhance all funds by 30% within the current fund value – utilising £1,186,585 leaving c£12,000 to go towards the costs of the exercise …”

10. Mr C wrote to the Plan members, on 27 August 1997,

“I am writing to you to formally advise that as from 1 September, the SVM Pension Scheme, formerly known as the 1997 SVM Services Ltd pension scheme will cease to exist. The full value of the assets of the scheme will be distributed to the members.

The reason for this decision taken by the trustees stems from the escalating costs of administering such schemes and the personal liability arising for the trustees under the new Pensions Act which came into force on 5 April 1997.”

11. On 9 March 1998, a Senior Consultant (Mr B) with JLP wrote to Mrs Marston. Mr B referred to the previous notice from the Trustees informing members that the SVM Plan was winding up with effect from 31 August 1997. Mrs Marston says that she had not received this notice. Mr B said that they were looking to complete the transfer of monies by 31 May 1998. He said that Mrs Marston had three options: transfer to another employer’s scheme, transfer to a personal pension plan, or transfer to a Section 32 plan. Mr B quoted a transfer value of £26,962.83, which, he said, had been enhanced by 23% over the transfer value recommended by the Plan’s actuaries.
12. Mrs Marston completed an application form for a “Scottish Equitable Personal Pension Scheme”, on 22 April 1998, and returned it to Mr B at JLP. In her covering letter, she said,
“With reference to your letter of 9 March regarding the [Scheme]. Please find enclosed completed application form as discussed over the telephone with regards transferring to the Scottish Equitable Personal Pension. I would like to subscribe to the ‘medium risk’ fund.

I hope that the form is in order but no doubt you will contact me should you require any further information.”

13. On 17 May 1999, Mr C wrote to the SVM Plan members, enclosing a letter from JLP, setting out their options, together with a quotation from Scottish Equitable for a transfer to their Reflex Personal Pension Plan. Mrs Marston says that she did not receive these letters.

14. On 18 May 1999, Mr C wrote to SBJ Benefit Consultants (SBJ), who provided administration and actuarial services to the SVM plan. He expressed dissatisfaction with the time it was taking to close the SVM Plan and concern with the variation in some of the transfer values quoted.

15. On 11 June 1999, Mr B wrote to Mrs Marston again. He said that the current value of Mrs Marston’s benefits (as at age 65) was £25,027. He said that the transfer value had been calculated to reflect Mrs Marston’s full pension entitlement up to the date of winding-up (31 August 1997). Mr B went on to explain that the transfer value had two elements: that representing Mrs Marston’s Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) up to 5 April 1997 (£13,825) and that representing her “Main scheme benefits” (£11,202).
16. Mr B said that Mrs Marston could transfer her funds to a personal contract in her own name, which could be either a personal pension plan or a buy-out (Section 32) plan. He also said that, if Mrs Marston had not made a decision by 1 September 1999, the Trustees would use the funds to buy a non-profit buy-out policy. Mr B recommended that Mrs Marston take advice with regard to her options. He said that JLP could do this and had agreed a reduced charge basis with SVM.
17. Mr C wrote to members on 8 September 1999 informing them that the SVM Plan was to be wound-up with effect from 1 September 1999.
18. On 10 January 2000, Mrs Marston wrote to Mr C. She requested a copy of the Trust Deed and Rules for the SVM Plan. Mr C responded, on 21 January 2000. In addition to enclosing the Trust Deed and Rules, he said that SBJ were advising the Trustees in relation to the SVM Plan and had calculated the amounts due to each member.
19. JLP wrote to Mr C, on 24 March 2000, with an update on what was needed to complete winding-up. They asked for a letter from Mr C, as a trustee, confirming that the SVM Plan was not paying any pensions from the fund, which, they said, they had requested on 10 December 1999 and 6 January 2000. JLP also said that there were 21 members with deferred benefits left in the SVM Plan, of whom Mrs Marston and one other had responded. They said that they did not have addresses for three of the members and asked if Mr C had any way of obtaining these.
20. In his response, dated 27 March 2000, Mr C said he was enclosing a copy of his response to JLP’s letter of 6 January 2000. He went on to say,
“Regarding the 21 members you identify with deferred benefits left in the scheme, I note that you propose to write one further letter informing the non-responders that a bulk transfer will be made within 4 weeks. We seem to be going backwards on this one. I saw … on 17th November 1999 and agreed with her that you would be arranging for bulk transfer of members at that time, with intention of getting monies transferred by the end of the year. I wrote to … on 18th November 1999 … and see no reason why this should not now be done without any further letters to the non-responders.

With respect to the three members for whom you have no known address, it does seem a little weak to come back some two years or more into the transfer process … In relation to … the address is correct and I am in contact with him … In relation to … we are aware he moved to Ireland soon after leaving us, but I am not aware of the whereabouts of … I will, however, get these addresses tracked down as quickly as possible …
In relation to … and [Mrs Marston], I know there were some difficulties and I would be grateful if you could confirm the current situation with each of them.”

Mr C then went on to list a number of queries from earlier correspondence, which he believed were still outstanding.

21. Mr B wrote to Mrs Marston, on 7 April 2000, enclosing a quotation for a Scottish Equitable Buy-Out Plan in respect of a transfer value of £25,027, including £11,202 in respect of contracted-out liabilities.
22. Following further correspondence, Mr B wrote to Mrs Marston again on 4 May 2000,
“… I can now confirm that I have received the revised illustration from Scottish Equitable showing the correct Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) figures.

Unfortunately, as I indicated, the revised figures have meant the Scottish Equitable are unable to accommodate this transfer as the transfer value will be insufficient to provide the GMP.

… the required transfer value, to provide the GMP, would amount to £34,273.93, which is more than £9,000 over your transfer value.

We could “farm the market” and attempt to find an insurer who would accept the transfer value but I would imagine as the deficit is quite high that no insurer would take this liability on. If an insurer did accept the transfer value and the fund at retirement did not meet the GMP, they would have to make up the difference …

The alternative would be to transfer the benefits to a Personal Pension. The GMP in this case would become Protected Rights …”

23. Mr C wrote to JLP, on 15 June 2000, expressing concern at a lack of response to previous correspondence. JLP wrote to Mr C, on 23 June 2000, listing current employees and deferred members who had transferred their benefits out of the SVM Plan and those members who had not transferred. With regard to Mrs Marston, JLP said,
“this individual initially felt that the transfer offer was inadequate but subsequently agreed to proceed. We recommended a transfer to a s32 plan however Scottish Equitable then confirmed that the funds were insufficient due to the scale of the GMP liability. We have informed Mrs Marston that the only option available to her is to transfer to a personal pension and she is considering this.”
24. Mrs Marston sought financial advice from Sovereign Employee Benefits Ltd (Sovereign). On 2 August 2000, they wrote to her,
“… I have been in touch with John Lamb – [Mr B] and I have established with him that the Company are winding the Scheme up, not because they are in receivership and therefore they will have to meet the GMP liabilities in the Pension Scheme.

I recommend that you simply wait and at the end of the day the Trustees will have to either buy a Deferred Annuity to provide the same benefits or pay extra money into the Pension Scheme to enable a bulk buy out to be made to cover the GMP liabilities.”

25. Mrs Marston states that her husband had a number of telephone conversations with Mr C following this letter until she handed the matter over to solicitors.

26. Mr C wrote to JLP, on 13 September 2000, enclosing a schedule of the amounts he thought were still to be paid. Mrs Marston is listed as having an amount of £25,027. Mr C says that he does not recall receiving a response from JLP.
27. In February 2001, solicitors acting for Mrs Marston (Jarmans) wrote to Mr C stating that Mrs Marston had advised JLP that she wished to transfer to a Section 32 plan. Jarmans said that JLP had advised Mrs Marston that the amount required to secure her GMP was £34,274, i.e. £9,248 more than the quoted transfer value. They said that, since the SVM Plan was not winding up because of insolvency on the part of the sponsoring company, SVM would have to ensure that there were sufficient funds to meet the GMP liabilities. In response, Mr C said he had passed a copy of Jarmans’ letter to the Administrators and that he would respond when he had their comments.

28. Mr C wrote to JLP, on 26 June 2001, enclosing a list of people who, he believed, should be transferred to a Scottish Equitable Section 32 policy. Mrs Marston was on this list. Mr C asked if there was anything else JLP needed to effect the transfers. He has explained that he recalls JLP responding, on 26 September 2001, but cannot locate a copy of their response.

29. On 2 October 2001, Mr C wrote to SBJ,
“As you recall some while ago, at your request, I asked John Lamb if they would purchase Section 32 policies for the remaining members of the 1977 Pension Plan, who had not formally accepted a transfer.

Recently, John Lamb obtained some quotations and now advise the Trustees ought to be setting aside some £300,000 to provide Section 32 benefits. This is some £100,000 more than even the enhanced amounts they advised in September 1997 …

It would seem to me, that John Lamb’s failure to deal with the Section 32 Buy-out policies in a timely way has created a situation where the cost of buying the Section 32 policies has escalated at a rate very much faster than one could ever have expected from any investment policy. Also, having made offers of transfer values to the members which, as far as I am aware, have not been rejected, buying Section 32 policies now would be an extraordinary (sic) expensive way of fulfilling our liabilities to these remaining members … All previous transfers out of the scheme were effected at the schedule of figures provided to us, by John Lamb.
It would seem as a Trustee there are a number of options to be explored:

Firstly, what liability, if any, do John Lamb have for not purchasing Section 32 policies at the stage originally agreed?

What the possibilities are of speaking to each of the people individually and encouraging them to accept the transfer value originally quoted. Even if this had to be enhanced by investment performance since that date, it would still be considerably cheaper than the Section 32 policies now suggested.

The Employer makes up the shortfall.

The last option is not at all attractive and would seem to me to significantly disadvantage those members that accepted transfer much earlier.”
30. In response, SBJ said that it would not make sense for them to become involved in securing members’ benefits. However, they went on to say that they had reviewed the information they had provided to JLP in 1998 and had noticed that some of the GMP figures had been incorrectly labelled. SBJ suggested that this may have led to Scottish Equitable double counting revaluation on some of the GMP figures. They concluded their letter by saying,
“In terms of the general procedure for winding up I believe the original intention was for the transfer value figures calculated by the actuary to be used as the basis for determining each member’s share of the fund. At the date of the calculation I recall there was a small excess to be added to each member’s transfer payment. In order to be consistent in the treatment of all members, this share should be adjusted from that date in line with the investment return on the assets. I should perhaps remind you that there is no scope for utilising any surplus for payments to the employer. Even if there were sufficient assets to deal with all members’ accrued benefits under the rules, there is an overriding statutory requirement to provide additional pension increases in respect of pre-1997 service before any remaining money could be used in that way.”
31. Jarmans chased for a response on 20 December 2001 and 6 February 2002. Mr C responded on 11 February 2002. He said that the company had moved offices and that they had mislaid Jarmans’ earlier letter. Mr C said that Jarmans’ original letter had been passed to JLP for comment. He went on to say that there appeared to be a conflict of advice between that given by Mr B to Mrs Marston and that given by JLP to the Trustees. Mr C said that, due to a number of difficulties with JLP, they had engaged alternative advisers and had asked them to calculate a transfer value for Mrs Marston. He asked if Jarmans could provide a copy of the advice given by Mr B to Mrs Marston.

32. Mr C wrote to SBJ, on the same day, saying that JLP had advised the Trustees that Mrs Marston’s transfer value was £25,027, but Mr B had advised Mrs Marston that the amount required to provide her GMP was £34,274. He asked SBJ to calculate Mrs Marston’s cash equivalent transfer value as a baseline. Mr C also said that the Trustees had returned some surplus payments to SVM. He said that, had appropriate advice been received from JLP, the surplus would not have arisen because they would have reduced the amounts paid into the SVM Plan.

33. Mr C wrote to Jarmans, on 20 May 2002, explaining that he had still not heard from the Advisers and had contacted them to seek a meeting. He wrote to SBJ, on the same day, requesting a meeting. In response, Jarmans said that, if they did not hear from Mr C or the Advisers, they would approach the pension provider directly.
34. SBJ wrote to Mr C, on 21 May 2002, apologising for the delay in responding to his earlier letter. They explained that the actuary had noticed a potential breach of legislation in the Trustees’ Report and Accounts and had been obliged to report this to OPRA. In his response, of 23 May 2002, Mr C said that, following discussions between the actuary and their accountants, he had taken the decision to reverse “the transaction” in the company’s accounts.
35. Mr C’s Personal Assistant wrote to SBJ, on 16 August 2002, stating that they were still awaiting details of the closing pension values and asked that they raise the matter with the Actuary.

36. Jarmans wrote to Mr C again, on 10 September 2002, requesting a substantive reply. In response, Mr C said that he had copied Jarmans’ letter to the Advisers and the Actuary seeking a response. He said that, if he did not receive a response within a week or so, he would seek advice from OPRA and take legal advice. He again asked for a copy of the advice from Mr B concerning the transfer value of £34,274. Mr C also wrote to the Actuary, enclosing a schedule of transfer values, indicating those paid and those still to be paid. He said he had asked for transfer values to be calculated for the remaining members. Mr C asked the Actuary to indicate, if the new transfer values were higher, whether any increase had been due to changes in legislation or the value of equities. He said he was keen to respond to Jarmans’ latest letter.
37. On 25 September 2002, Mr C wrote to Jarmans saying that he had not heard from the Actuary or the Advisers and was establishing what further options he had. On the same day, he wrote to the Actuary. In response, Jarmans said that they had been asked to instruct counsel but that they would advise Mrs Marston to allow Mr C a short while longer to obtain some answers.

38. The Actuary responded, on 2 October 2002:

38.1. Transfer values had been calculated in December 1998 and it was on this basis that the Trustees, acting on advice from JLP, had decided to wind-up the SVM Plan.

38.2. In view of the Plan’s assets at the time, members had been quoted 100% transfer values.

38.3. The SVM Plan’s assets had been converted to cash at that time, pending final distribution.

38.4. With the exception of the 20 remaining members, transfer payments or buy-outs had been made on this basis since 1998.

38.5. The 1998 transfer value calculations had been made on the actuarial basis applicable at that time, under MFR. This is market-related. In particular, the calculations for deferred members with more than 10 years to go before retirement are linked to the level of the UK Equity market. The effect of this had been seen previously when transfer values had increased significantly between 1997 and 1998 as a result of movements in equity values.

38.6. Recent severe falls in equity markets meant that a recalculation of transfer values on the MFR basis would produce lower figures.

38.7. He was of the opinion that to use such figures at this stage would not be appropriate because the 1998 figures had been used for all other members of the SVM Plan.

38.8. He recommended that the payments due for the remaining 20 members continued to be taken as the amounts previously calculated, plus interest as appropriate. For each member, the amount needed to secure benefits via an insurance policy might need to be increased and depended upon the Trustees obtaining updated insurance quotes.
38.9. The residual assets held by the Trustees should be sufficient to secure the benefits for the remaining members if the incorrect payment of ‘surplus’ funds to the Company was repaid.

39. Mr C wrote to Jarmans, on 11 October 2002, saying that he had received advice from the Actuary. He said:
39.1. A transfer value of £21,921 had been quoted in November 1997 and this had been enhanced by the Trustees, acting on advice.

39.2. Transfer values had again been calculated in December 1998 and, on the basis of these figures, the Trustees had decided to wind up the SVM Plan.

39.3. The figure quoted for Mrs Marston was £25,027 and this was again enhanced.

39.4. It was on this basis that the majority of members had accepted transfer payments or buy-outs.

39.5. The 1998 transfer value calculations were made on the actuarial basis which applied at that time under the minimum funding requirement (MFR). The MFR basis is linked to the UK equity markets for members with more that 10 years to go before retirement.

39.6. Recent falls in the equity markets meant that a recalculation of Mrs Marston’s transfer value would produce a lower figure than quoted in December 1998. The Actuary was of the opinion that it would not be appropriate to use such a figure for Mrs Marston because the December 1998 figures had been used for all other members.
39.7. The Actuary had recommended that the payment due to Mrs Marston be taken at the amount previously calculated. The Actuary had accepted that amounts might be required to be increased to secure benefits via insurance policies and this depended upon obtaining dated quotations.

39.8. Jarmans had indicated that Mrs Marston had received advice that a Section 32 plan would cost £34,274. The Trustees had not seen this advice or the basis upon which it had been given. In order to proceed, he would need copies of this advice.

40. In January 2003, Jarmans wrote to Mrs Marston saying that they had been in touch with Mr C, that he had been given some additional documents from her file and that he was considering the position. Jarmans said that they understood that SVM was being taken over by the end of the week and thought that it would be in Mr C’s interests to get the matter sorted out.
41. Following further correspondence from Jarmans, Mr C wrote to them on 24 January 2003. He said that SVM was in take-over discussions and it was anticipated that contracts would be signed by the end of January. Mr C referred to JLP’s letters to Mrs Marston in late 1997 or early 1998 outlining her options. Mr C said that he had reviewed his files and could find no record of Mrs Marston having made a choice. He acknowledged that Mrs Marston had taken advice from JLP in 2000, and appeared to have been discussing a Section 32 plan. Mr C asked Jarmans to confirm that a Section 32 plan was the appropriate course and he proposed to employ SBJ or others to procure a plan in Mrs Marston’s name and the Trustees would bear the cost. Mr C went on to say,
“If Mrs Marston opts for a section 32 plan, as I understand it, a set of defined benefits needs to be provided and the cost will be of little interest to Mrs Marston. If Mrs Marston, however, wishes to elect for one of the other options, I would be willing to negotiate with you a lump sum transfer value based on the amount originally advised to Mrs Marston less the enhancement offered at the time but plus the growth that would have been expected in a personal pension.”
42. In their response, dated 7 February 2003, Jarmans referred to Sovereign’s letter of 2 August 2000 and JLP’s letter of 4 May 2000. They asked if the Trustees were intending to make up the shortfall to guarantee Mrs Marston’s GMP or buy a deferred annuity for her which satisfied her that the same benefits would be provided. Mr C responded, on 13 February 2003, saying that it appeared that Mrs Marston had not decided whether she would prefer to purchase a deferred annuity or transfer to another scheme, which would cover the GMP. He said that, before they could make arrangements to carry either of these options out, they needed to know what Mrs Marston’s wishes were.
43. In a letter to Jarmans, dated 16 February 2003, Mrs Marston expressed her disappointment that no progress had been made. She said that she was confused by the references to her not having made a decision. Mrs Marston said that she had decided on a Section 32 plan and had done nothing to suggest a change in position. She said that Mr C should arrange to have the transfer value re-calculated to provide the same level of benefits as the SVM Plan via a Section 32 plan and have the transfer effected without further delay.

44. On 29 April 2003, Mr C wrote to Sovereign asking if they could obtain a quote for a Section 32 plan from Scottish Equitable and any other companies they could recommend. On the same day, Mr C wrote to Mrs Marston:
44.1. He understood that she had signed an acceptance in 1998 and returned it to JLP.

44.2. He also understood that she had opted for a Section 32 plan.

44.3. Now that he knew that Mrs Marston wanted a Section 32 plan, he would make the appropriate arrangements.

44.4. He was not inclined to use JLP to make the arrangements but had approached Sovereign.

44.5. He had not seen any of the correspondence between JLP and Mrs Marston, with the exception of JLP’s letter of 4 May 2000. He asked Mrs Marston to provide copies and said that he would reimburse the copying costs.

44.6. Much of the delay in dealing with Mrs Marston’s transfer had resulted from conflicting advice given by JLP.

45. In May 2003, Mr C provided Sovereign with details of Mrs Marston’s membership of the SVM Plan, salary at date of leaving, etc., including the transfer value quoted in 1999.

46. Sovereign wrote to Mr C, on 6 June 2003,
“… The transfer value which you have provided to us for Mrs J Marston does not even meet the GMP liability. You must have offered a Deferred Pension Annuity to Mrs Marston initially, and we shall be obliged if you will recalculate the transfer value. Scottish Equitable tell us they need £43,368.52 just to cover the GMP and Standard Life need in excess of £51,000.”

47. Sovereign chased up a response to their letter in July and August 2003. On 5 August 2003, Mr C wrote to Sovereign requesting a copy of Scottish Equitable’s quotation and the basis upon which it was calculated. He said:

47.1. They had offered Mrs Marston a deferred annuity initially.

47.2. He had requested a re-calculation of the transfer value but had not received this.

47.3. He had taken this up with SBJ and a meeting had been arranged for 19 August 2003.

47.4. He was not familiar with the calculation of transfer values but understood that there could be quite a difference in the quotations arising from the use of different assumptions. He asked if Sovereign could identify the assumptions they used prior to the meeting with SBJ so that he could agree a basis for the calculation of Mrs Marston’s transfer value.

47.5. He did not have access to JLP’s files. He asked if Sovereign could send him copies of JLP’s 1998 letter and Mrs Marston’s response of 22 April 1998.

47.6. He had spoken to Mrs Marston’s husband, who had advised that he had a comprehensive file of papers, which he was not willing to release until the transfer had been effected.

48. Mr C wrote to SBJ on the same day, confirming a meeting on 19 August 2003. He said,
“I have one member, [Mrs Marston] who is very anxious to agree a transfer value. We have offered £25,027, (back in 1999) and this included a 30% enhancement. Quite a number of people took up the offers made at that time and all went through in the amounts quoted. I understand that Mrs Marston has opted for a S32 buyout and I have recently been advised by Sovereign … that Scot Equitable require £43,368.52 to put such a policy in place. I have asked Sovereign for the underlying assumptions they would wish to see taken into account for the calculation of a transfer value. The difference is significant and while could be funded for Mrs Marston if all other potential transfers have gone up in proportion there will be additional funding requirements. In the first instance I need to be aware of the transfer payments that [the Actuary] is suggesting as being appropriate and our obligation to meet current GMP funding requirements when at the time the transfers were offered they were more than sufficient.”
49. Sovereign sent Mr C a copy of the Scottish Equitable quotation on 12 August 2003.

50. Mr C wrote to Mrs Marston, on 19 August 2003, saying that SBJ had obtained details of her GMP from the National Insurance Contributions Office. These were £15.94 per week as at 23 August 1995 (date of leaving) and £18.09 as at 31 August 1997 (date winding-up commenced). He said SBJ had been instructed to obtain a quotation from Scottish Equitable for Mrs Marston and that he anticipated receiving these within two to three weeks. Mr C said that Mrs Marston would then have three months in which to decide whether to transfer to Scottish Equitable or elsewhere. He went on to say that, if she had not decided within the three month period, the Trustees would purchase a Section 32 policy in her name. Mr C also said that, if Mrs Marston accepted the Scottish Equitable quotation and wished to proceed immediately then, upon receipt of her written instructions, the Trustees would purchase a Section 32 policy immediately.
51. The Personnel Manager at SVM wrote to Mrs Marston, on 25 September 2003, saying that Scottish Equitable had advised that benefit quotations should be available in five working days. Mrs Marston was told,
“Once we receive your quotation, we will forward you a copy advising you what your fund value will be transferred to a Scottish Equitable section 32 buy-out policy. You will then have 3 months to decide if you wish to accept the section 32 policy or propose alternative arrangements. Should you have not decided within 3 months then we will arrange for a section 32 policy to be purchased in your name.”

52. SBJ wrote to the Personnel Manager at SVM, on 3 October 2003, saying that Scottish Equitable had estimated that they would need around an extra £850,000 to cover the members’ GMPs. They said SVM would have to decide if it wanted to fund the shortfall and asked if they were to get buy-out quotations from other insurers. SBJ enclosed a transfer quotation from Scottish Equitable in respect of Mrs Marston. This indicated that Scottish Equitable would require £44,206.48 to cover her GMP. Mr C responded, on 6 October 2003,
“… I note that the Scottish Equitable quote for Mrs Marston is £44,206.48 and this is about 53% above the original transfer value of £28,907. However, I am shocked to see that Scottish Equitable estimate an “extra £850,000” is required to cover the members GMPs. It is not clear if this is extra to the total of the monies held in the trust or some other number.

However, for each person requiring a Section 32 Policy, this figure represents a 400% uplift.”

53. SBJ responded, on 9 October 2003,
“Scottish Equitable have confirmed that they have correctly revalued the guaranteed minimum pensions (GMPs) to arrive at their estimated shortfall amount of £850,000. I can confirm that they will require this approximate figure on top of the total members’ transfer values of £279,332.96 in order to cover the members’ GMPs.

Scottish Equitable have advised that they would require this extra money as the members’ GMPs are very poorly funded. Under a Section 32 buy-out policy the insurer has to guarantee that it will pay a member’s GMP in full from their State Pension Age … Scottish Equitable would therefore require a large reserve fund … to try and ensure that they do not become liable to make up any shortfall when a GMP becomes payable should future investment performance result in a funding deficit.

We might possibly be able to obtain slightly more favourable terms by approaching other insurers. However, as you have said that SVM plc is not prepared to make up any shortfall, there would be little point in carrying out this exercise …”

54. Mr C wrote to the Plan members on 11 March 2004, explaining that the purchase of Section 32 policies had not gone ahead as planned. He said that the Trustees were still in negotiation with Scottish Equitable with regard to the purchase of Section 32 policies for those members who had yet to transfer their funds out of the Plan. Mr C said that, since JLP’s (Mr B’s) letter of March 1998, a third option had arisen: this was for the members to transfer their funds to a stakeholder scheme. He advised members to take independent financial advice with regard to their options.
55. Mr C went on to say,
“The amount currently held in The SVM Final Salary Pension Scheme fund on your behalf is £x, being the amount quoted as at December 1998 and Interest earned on the amount since that date. This is likely to be greater than the value of the same amount invested in a pension arrangement in 1998 due to movements in the stock markets since 1998.”

Members were asked to provide details of where they wished their funds to be transferred to. Mr C said that, if the Trustees did not hear from the member, the funds would be transferred to a Section 32 policy in the member’s name.

56. On 15 April 2004, SVM plc (the Financial Controller and a director) wrote to OPRA, in response to its decision to appoint an independent trustee to the SVM Plan. The letter made the following points:
56.1. The appointment of a further trustee would create additional costs for the employer in respect of a scheme that had been in wind up since 1997. These costs would come on top of the costs of its current Group Personal Pension Plan (GPP).

56.2. With the repayment of the ‘surplus’, the actuarial statement in the accounts for the year ending January 2003 indicated that the Company had met the MFR. As such, it did not expect to make further payments into the scheme.

56.3. SVM plc had agreed that the payment of a surplus to the employer was incorrectly made and was in the process of reimbursing the amount. At that time, the debt on the employer was £32,149.25. An attached sheet set out the components of the original debt, the dates at which the amount was reduced and evidence demonstrating the current debt. The debt was shown in the company balance sheet as a liability and they were managing the cash flow to discharge the debt before the end of the 2004 financial year.
56.4. They did not see the need for significant costs to be incurred by the appointment of a trustee to a scheme with current member liabilities of approximately £265,000. The Trustees were in correspondence with a number of members with a view to transferring funds, which would reduce the scheme liabilities to around £157,000.

57. The attached sheet indicated that the original sum refunded to the Company was £147,000: made up of £32,020, an amount advised by JLP as due to current employees (a list of seven employees was given later); £42,000, provision for tax paid by the Trustees; £10,830.75, VAT paid by the Company but disallowed by HMRC; and £62,149.25, ‘surplus’. It stated that £32,020 had been paid to the Scottish Equitable GPP over the period March to June 2001. The tax figure had only been a provision in the Plan accounts and had not been paid. The VAT was originally paid and reclaimed by the Company, but had been disallowed by HMRC and was, therefore, a Plan liability. The Company had paid £10,000 back to the Plan on each of 10 December 2003, 26 March 2004 and 14 April 2004; paying in slips in the name of the Trustees of the SVM Plan were submitted as evidence of these repayments. This left a sum of £32,149.25 outstanding.
58. Mr C has explained that the directors of SVM plc appointed an administrator on 11 May 2004 and SVM plc went into liquidation on 11 April 2005.

59. The SVM Plan is currently being assessed by the Financial Assistance Scheme.

Claim to the Liquidator

60. Law Debenture were appointed in June 2004.

61. Law Debenture say that there is some confusion as to whether winding-up of the Plan was triggered in or around September 1997. This affects the nature and the amount of any claims the Plan may have against SVM plc. They say that they have been informed by the Liquidator that there will be some dividend available for unsecured creditors, such as the Plan. Law Debenture have submitted claims against SVM plc on two bases:

61.1. The one assumes that winding-up was not triggered in 1997 and that the Employer’s express contribution obligation under the Trust Deed and Rules is still subsisting. This claim is based on the difference between the actuary’s estimate of the cost of buying out the members’ benefits and the assets held by the Plan. It amounts to around £640,000.

61.2. The other assumes that winding-up was triggered in 1997. This claim is in respect of the balance of an unlawful refund to SVM plc in 2000, fees improperly refunded to SVM plc (including 20 years of fees claimed by Mr C) and administration fees paid by the Plan, which should have been paid by SVM plc. This amounts to around £265,000.
A claim for £297,610 was agreed by the Liquidator in October 2006.

62. Law Debenture say that they have not pursued any action against Mr C or Mr L because they would appear to be covered by the exoneration in Rule 15 (see paragraph 8) and litigation would be expensive and time consuming with an uncertain outcome. As at April 2007, the SVM Plan had assets of approximately £250,000.
63. In March 2007, the Liquidator informed Law Debenture that creditors had until 30 March 2007 to make a final submission of a claim. They said that claims totalling £696,000 had been received and approximately £458,000 had been formally admitted. The Liquidator said that they intended to make a distribution towards the end of April 2007.
64. In August 2007, Law Debenture advised members that the Liquidator had received a further substantial claim, which might have an impact on the amount that they would receive. They said that the Liquidator had been unable to give them any idea of how long it would take to evaluate this claim and, until they knew whether the claim had been accepted or rejected, they could not complete the winding-up.
65. Some Scheme members are now receiving payments under the Financial Assistance Scheme (FAS).

SUBMISSIONS
Mrs Marston

66. Mrs Marston submits:

66.1. Having advised JLP of her requirements, the transfer should have taken place in or around November 1998.
66.2. Mr C has put obstacle after obstacle in the way of progress or simply ignored correspondence or telephone calls.

66.3. The Trustees should not be afforded the protection in Rule 15 because their acts were wilful and deliberate.

66.4. None of the correspondence contains evidence that anyone advised the Trustees that there was any surplus which could be returned to the Company.

66.5. SBJ, in their letter of 24 October 2001 (see paragraph 30), reminded Mr C that there was no scope for utilising any surplus for payments to the employer.

66.6. There are a number of questions which need to be answered, including whether the decision to transfer funds to SVM plc was taken at a Trustees’ meeting and who attended the meeting. The minutes of such a meeting should have been produced. If Mr C acted on his own, it must have been for his own benefit and would amount to wilful default.
66.7. She is seeking sufficient funds to guarantee her rights under the Plan.

66.8. If the original transfer had taken place, she would have a Scottish Equitable personal pension plan. It was for the Trustees to establish why this had not happened and to advise her of the correct procedure. No trustee or adviser has ever suggested that any other documentation was required from her.
Mr S
67. Mr S submits:

67.1. He resigned from SVM and as a Trustee in May 2002 and does not have any records or correspondence relating to the SVM Plan.
67.2. He was not a Trustee during 1998 and 1999 but he does recall there being some difficulties with the transfers for deferred members.

67.3. He does recall, during his period of trusteeship, there being a small number of deferred members whose transfers had not been actioned.

67.4. He was very much dependent upon the advice being provided by or sought from SBJ.

67.5. He does not recall why there was such a delay with these transfers, nor does he recall any particular reference to Mrs Marston.

67.6. The documents submitted to the Ombudsman appear to indicate that there was little or no correspondence from Mrs Marston during his period of trusteeship.

67.7. He does not recall there being a complaint under the SVM Plan’s internal dispute resolution (IDR) procedure, which might have brought the case to his attention.

67.8. He does recall some discussion concerning the payment to SVM but he does not recall the timing of it. As far as he can recall, the SVM Plan was not under-funded and the money was transferred to SVM as payment of expenses for the time and effort contributed to the SVM Plan over a period of some 25 years. He would not have agreed to the payment if he had been informed that the SVM Plan was not in surplus.

67.9. He has not at any time acted in wilful default and is entitled to rely on the exoneration provided in Rule 15 (see paragraph 8).

Mr C
68. Mr C submits:

68.1. He was appointed as a trustee of the Plan on 1 September 1986. From 1992, he was the managing director of SVM plc. On 11 May 2004, the Directors of SVM appointed an administrator and, on 11 April 2005, SVM went into liquidation. He has had no further involvement as a trustee of the Plan since the appointment of Law Debenture on 23 June 2004.
68.2. He was not aware that Mrs Marston had requested a transfer in 1998. Mrs Marston’s request was made by letter, of 22 April 1998, to JLP. He was not notified of the request and JLP failed to action Mrs Marston’s transfer. He was, therefore, not in a position to action the transfer or to take steps to ensure that the transfer was carried out by JLP.
68.3. He was also not aware of the correspondence between JLP and Mrs Marston in 1999 and 2000.

68.4. He became aware of Mrs Marston’s transfer request in June 2000 and, from then until the appointment of Law Debenture in June 2004, used his best efforts to progress the transfer.

68.5. When he was provided with a copy of JLP’s letter, of 9 March 1998, in 2004, he was surprised by the transfer value quoted (£26,962.83) because it did not appear on any of the schedules he had been provided with at the time.

68.6. He denies having refused to answer correspondence from Mrs Marston’s solicitors and advisers. He responded to Jarman’s letters within a reasonable time, save where a letter was misplaced during an office move. He was reliant on JLP and/or SBJ to respond. There was a delay in responding to Sovereign’s letters of 6 June, 11 July and 1 August 2003. However, he did provide a detailed response on 5 August 2003.
68.7. He acknowledges that payments were made to SVM from the Plan, totalling £105,000 by December 2000. At the time, the Plan was thought to be in surplus, over and above the amount required to meet the liabilities for members who had not taken a transfer. Of the £105,000, £72,850.75 has since been repaid by SVM. He presumes that Law Debenture have submitted a claim for the balance to the liquidator.

68.8. JLP, in their letter of 28 July 1997 (see paragraph 9), advised that the transfer of members’ benefits to individual policies would cost £912,760, which would create a surplus. The Trustees, therefore, accepted JLP’s advice to enhance members’ benefits by 30%, which left £12,000 in the Plan for fees. In 2000, it emerged that one member, for whom a transfer value of £79,611 had been allocated, had left the Plan and there was no liability for him. JLP did not advise him that the payments to members should be revised to take account of this surplus. As the Company had been paying unnecessary contributions, in respect of this member, the Trustees considered that it would be reasonable to pay this amount to the Company.
68.9. He does not recall being specifically told that there was a surplus which could be repaid to the Company.

68.10. As at December 2000, following the withdrawals, the Plan’s cash assets were £297,351.83. The Plan’s liabilities, based on the December 1998 transfer values, were £241,874.00. Allowing for interest, at 5% p.a., over two years, the liabilities were £266,335.30. This left around £31,000 in the Plan for fees and other miscellaneous expenses.

68.11. Neither the Actuary nor the Advisers had informed the Trustees that the liabilities had risen. In a letter dated 2 October 2002, the Actuary said that the December 1998 transfer values were still valid and the assets were sufficient to secure them.
68.12. When reviewing the Plan accounts for 2001, SBJ noted that the payment of the surplus to the Company was a potential breach of the Pensions Act 1995. In view of this, SVM resolved to repay the full amount. Payments were made as follows:

£32,020 to Scottish Equitable on behalf of members who had taken transfer values, but had not been fully paid their benefits on 19 March 2001,

£10,000 to the Plan on 10 December 2003,

£10,000 to the Plan on 5 April 2004,

£10,000 to the Plan on 15 April 2004,

£10,830.75 in respect of VAT on behalf of the Plan.

68.13. In relation to the figures quoted by Law Debenture (see paragraph 61) relating to fees and expenses, these appear to have been taken from the Plan’s published accounts. These were prepared by independent auditors, reviewed by the Actuary and provided to JLP and SBJ. No advice was received by the Trustees to suggest that there was a significant liability on the Company, especially when they were advised that there were sufficient assets in the Plan to meet the advised liabilities. The Company was contributing to the Plan and, therefore, was effectively discharging the costs via its contributions.
68.14. The SVM Partnership invoiced SVM for £72,720.75 (including VAT), for his services, on 30 November 2000. The invoice was addressed to the Company and it does appear that the Plan funded this amount. The Company had made earlier contributions to the Plan to meet the advised liabilities and was advised, by JLP and/or SBJ, that the remaining assets available for distribution to members were sufficient.

68.15. He relied on Rule 14, in charging for his services (see Appendix).

68.16. He also relies on Rule 15 (see paragraph 8). He denies that he has acted in wilful default of his duties as a trustee of the Plan.

CONCLUSIONS
Mrs Marston’s Transfer Value
69. It is Mrs Marston’s contention that she applied to transfer to a Scottish Equitable Section 32 buy-out plan in 1998 and that this request was not actioned by the Trustees, at the time.

70. As is often the case where there has been a significant lapse of time, documentation from the period in question is thin on the ground. Much of what has been argued has, from necessity, been based on recollection.
71. What can be said, with some certainty, is that Mrs Marston completed an application form for a Scottish Equitable Personal Pension Plan. I have been provided with a copy of this form. In addition, from Mrs Marston’s covering letter to JLP, it is clear that she intended to transfer her pension rights from the Scheme to a Scottish Equitable plan. What I am unable to find, on the evidence available to me, is that Mrs Marston’s intention, at that time, was to transfer to a Section 32 buy-out plan. I am happy to accept that this became her preferred option over the course of her attempt to transfer her pension rights, but the evidence points towards an initial decision to transfer to a personal pension plan.
72. Regardless of this, I am unable to find that Mrs Marston’s letter and the application form amounted to a request to the Trustees of the Scheme to transfer her pension rights. Section 95 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 (which can be found in the appendix to this determination) sets out the requirements for a transfer request. A member of an occupational pension scheme, who has acquired a right to a cash equivalent transfer value, may only take that transfer by applying, in writing, to the trustees of the scheme.

73. Mrs Marston may well have decided to transfer her pension rights to Scottish Equitable, and it seems clear that she made JLP aware of her intention. However, there is insufficient evidence for me to find that she made a written request to the Trustees, such as is required by Section 95. The application form I have been provided with is not sufficient for this purpose. It is an application to join a Scottish Equitable plan and is not addressed to the Trustees of the Scheme. Since there is insufficient evidence to find a Section 95 request was made, in 1998, Section 99 (see Appendix), which requires the Trustees to act on such a request, was not triggered.
74. Mrs Marston has suggested that the Trustees should have explained if there was something further she needed to do in order to accomplish her transfer. In considering this point, I am mindful of the fact that Mrs Marston was not, initially, dealing directly with the Trustees; she was advised by JLP. In view of this, I do not find that there was maladministration on the part of the Trustees in not pursuing Mrs Marston’s transfer at this time.

75. By 2000, correspondence between Mrs Marston and JLP indicates that she had decided to transfer to a Section 32 buy-out plan. Whilst I have still not seen anything which could be described as a written request, such as is envisaged by Section 95, it appears that the Trustees (in the shape of Mr C) were now aware of Mrs Marston’s intentions. The problem which had arisen, by this time, was that the transfer value offered by the Scheme was less than the amount required by Scottish Equitable to cover Mrs Marston’s GMP if she transferred to a Section 32 policy with them.

76. By this time too, the Trustees were winding up the Scheme. Where a scheme is winding up in deficit, i.e. the assets do not cover the liabilities, an amount equal to the difference is treated as a debt on the employer. At the time, SVM was an ongoing concern and could have been expected to pay the debt. However, the debt would not have been calculated by reference to the sum required by Scottish Equitable to transfer Mrs Marston’s pension rights to a Section 32 buy-out plan.
77. Mrs Marston has taken the approach that the Trustees should be required to pay the amount needed to transfer her pension rights to a Scottish Equitable buy-out policy. However, her entitlement under the Scheme was to a cash equivalent transfer value or to deferred benefits at normal retirement age. Since the Scheme was winding up, if Mrs Marston did not request a transfer, it was for the Trustees to secure her deferred entitlement to the extent allowed by the Scheme’s assets, including any ‘debt’ recovered from SVM. This may not have been sufficient for a transfer to a Section 32 buy-out policy.
78. It is undeniable that the winding up was not handled well by the Trustees. I acknowledge that they were, to some extent, reliant upon their advisers to progress matters. It is true that Mr C did write to JLP on a number of occasions expressing concern that there had been little progress. Nevertheless, the trustees of a scheme bear the ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the scheme is properly managed and administered. If this requires them to consider changing their advisers, they must be proactive in this.

79. Because of the time taken to wind up the Scheme, events were overtaken by SVM’s liquidation.

80. The current situation is that the Scheme is winding up in deficit. There may be additional funds available once the liquidation process has been completed. It is unlikely that there will be sufficient funds for a transfer of Mrs Marston’s pension rights to a Section 32 buy-out policy with Scottish Equitable (her preferred option).
81. Whilst it is clear that the winding up and Mrs Marston’s transfer have been mishandled by the Trustees, there is insufficient evidence for me to find that this amounts to wilful default on their part. This would allow the Trustees to benefit from the protection offered by Rule 15 (see paragraph 8). In view of this, any compensation awarded to Mrs Marston would fall to the Scheme to pay. It would not be appropriate to require the Scheme, which is already in deficit, to shoulder such an additional burden.

Illegal Payments to SVM

82. If the evidence available to me relating to Mrs Marston’s transfer could be described as sparse, then the evidence concerning the payments from the Scheme to SVM is even more so. I agree with Mrs Marston, that it would have been desirable for there to have been more in the way of documentation. It is, however, a matter of agreement between the parties that sums of money were incorrectly paid to SVM from the Scheme; some of which have been repaid. Since the Trustees would be held jointly and severally liable for actions taken in their name, it is not necessary to establish who actually took the decision to pay the funds to SVM.
83. I have been offered, what could be described as, two reasons why this happened; the Trustees were under the impression that the Scheme was in surplus and it transpired that one member had left some years previously and they had been providing for a liability which no longer existed.
84. None of the evidence I have been provided with indicates that the Trustees were ever advised that it was possible or appropriate to make such payments to the Employer. They cannot, therefore, claim that they were acting on advice received and must accept full responsibility for the incorrect payments made. It must, however, also be acknowledged that steps were taken to repay the sums involved.

85. The question then arises as to whether the Trustees’ actions, in making the payments to SVM, amounted to wilful default on their part, which would deny them the protection of Rule 15. The test of wilful default is a rigorous one and not easily overcome, which I think must be right, given the liabilities that individual trustees would otherwise be exposed to. Whilst I do find that the Trustees’ actions fell well short of the standards expected of individuals in such positions of responsibility, and clearly amounted to maladministration, there is insufficient evidence for me to find that there was wilful default on their part. I uphold Mrs Marston’s complaint, but I am unable to find that the Trustees should be denied the protection offered by Rule 15.
86. There is also the matter of those payments made to Mr C personally; namely the £72,720.75 for fees. Mr C relies on Rule 14 (see Appendix). He also suggests that the Company covered the Scheme’s expenses in its ordinary contributions.
87. Rule 23(2) (see Appendix) is in two parts: part (a) provides for the Company to pay such sum as is required (together with the members’ contributions and investments) to provide the benefits; part (b) provides for the Company to discharge all costs and expenses connected with the running of the Scheme. To my mind, Rule 23 clearly envisaged that the costs and expenses of running the Scheme would be provided for separately and in addition to the Company’s ordinary contributions.

88. Whilst I might be willing to accept that Mr C was entitled to charge for his services to the Scheme, such charges should have been met by SVM and not by the Scheme. To have allowed the Scheme to bear these costs was maladministration on the part of the Trustees. I am doubtful again, however, that there is sufficient evidence to enable me to find that it was wilful default. Consequently, Rule 15 comes into play again.
89. Under normal circumstances, it would be for SVM to reimburse the Scheme for these expenses. However, SVM is now in liquidation. Law Debenture have submitted a claim to the liquidator on behalf of the Scheme, but it remains to be seen what, if any, funds are forthcoming from that source. To look to any individual director of SVM to reimburse the Scheme, would require me to “pierce the corporate veil” as it is, somewhat picturesquely, put. In other words, the individual directors of a company are not usually held personally liable for actions taken by the company, and this is the very essence of limited liability protection. The Courts are extremely reluctant to reach beyond the corporate veil and I believe that such caution is appropriate. I appreciate that Mrs Marston will find the outcome unsatisfactory, but I am not persuaded that there is sufficient evidence to warrant finding any individual director of SVM personally liable.
Failure to Respond

90. Mrs Marston also complained that Mr C failed to respond to her solicitors and financial advisers. I think it would be fair to say that some responses were slow in coming. I do accept, however, that Mr C was often reliant upon others for providing information and/or answers. In the circumstances, I would not go as far as to describe Mr C’s failure, on occasion, to respond promptly, as maladministration.

Summary

91. The result of my investigation is that I find there has been maladministration, but I am unable to offer Mrs Marston the redress she was hoping for. In the absence of a financially viable sponsoring employer, and with the Scheme already in financial difficulties, there is little room for manoeuvre. Mrs Marston will, no doubt, view this as something of a Pyrrhic victory and she has my sympathies.
CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

1 April 2008
APPENDIX

TRUST DEED AND RULES

1978 Trust Deed and Rules

92. Rule 19 provides:
“WINDING UP
(1) The Scheme shall be wound up

(a) on the termination by the Principal Company under Rule 37 of its liability to contribute to the Scheme unless the Trustees decide to continue the Scheme for the benefit of the Members,

(b) if the Principal Company shall for any cause whatsoever cease to carry on business or shall be wound up and liquidated …

(c) …

whichever first occurs.

(2) In the event of the Scheme at any time being wound up, the assets of the Fund shall be realised and the proceeds of such realisation and any other moneys then in the hands of the Trustees on account of the Scheme shall be applied by the Trustees

(a) first, in paying and discharging all necessary expenses incurred by the Trustees in connection with the Scheme so far as such expenses are not recovered from the Principal Company or the Participating Companies,

(b) secondly, in providing for any persons already in receipt of pensions under the Scheme …
(c) thirdly in securing similarly (so far as the funds in the hands of the Trustees permit) to each Member not within sub-paragraph (b) … as if the Member had left the Employment on the date the Scheme is wound up and paragraph (i) or (ii) of sub-Rule (2) of Rule 28 [Leaving Service] had become operative … provided that if the circumstances so permit and with the consent of such Member if such transfer of benefits is other than to a scheme of any Employer the Trustees may instead of providing a fully-secured pension as aforesaid in respect of any Member elect to make a payment in respect of such Member as though under sub-Rule (2) of Rule 16, and

(d) lastly, if after the operation of (a) to (c) above, any balance remains in the Fund, the Trustees shall use such balance as follows:-
(i) to provide such increases to the benefits under (a) to (c) above as the Principal Company may in any particular case direct, consistent with approval by the Board of Inland Revenue under the Act; and

(ii) any assets not allocated under (i) above shall be paid to the Employers in such proportions as the Trustees shall certify to be appropriate.”*

*Sub-paragraph (d) is as amended by the Deed of Alteration dated 11 December 1997

93. Rule 14 provides:

“Any Trustee being a person engaged in any profession or any firm in which he may be a partner shall, notwithstanding his trusteeship, be entitled to charge and be paid all usual professional and other charges for acts done by him or his firm in connection with the Scheme and to retain for his own benefit any profits made by him or his firm in connection therewith.”

94. Rule 23(2) provides:

“Employers’ Contributions

(a) Subject to Rule 37 [Termination of Liability] the Employers shall in each Scheme Year pay to the Trustees such sum as shall together with the Members’ contributions … and all other moneys, funds, investments, policies and property constituting the Fund be required to provide the benefits under the Scheme …

(b) The Employers shall also discharge all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the carrying out of the trusts and provisions of the Scheme in the proportions which in the opinion of the Trustees are appropriate.”
Deed of Alteration 11 December 1997

95. The December 1997 Deed also amended Rule 16(2) so that it reads:

“At the written request of a Member, the Trustees may transfer to the administrators of any scheme or arrangement approved under the Act or otherwise approved by the Board of Inland Revenue for this purpose (“the Receiving Administrators”) such assets representing benefits applicable to and in respect of the Member as is decided on the advice of the Actuary in accordance with the current laws under the Pension Schemes Act 1993 relating to transfer values or such greater amount as the Principal Company may direct , not exceeding the part of the Fund which the Trustees decide on the advice of the Actuary to be attributable to the Member to the intent that he shall be entitled to such rights and benefits under the other scheme or arrangement as the Trustees may arrange with the Receiving Administrators.”
RELEVANT LEGISLATION

The Pension Schemes Act 1993

“95
Ways of taking right of cash equivalent
(1) A member of an occupational pension scheme or a personal pension scheme who acquires a right to a cash equivalent under this Chapter may only take it by making an application in writing to the trustees or managers of the scheme requiring them to use the cash equivalent to which he has acquired a right in whichever of the ways specified in subsection (2) or, as the case may be, subsection (3) he chooses. 

(2) In the case of a member of an occupational pension scheme, the ways referred to in subsection (1) are— 

(a) for acquiring transfer credits allowed under the rules of another occupational pension scheme— 

(i) the trustees or managers of which are able and willing to accept payment in respect of the member’s accrued rights, and 

(ii) which satisfies prescribed requirements; 

(b) for acquiring rights allowed under the rules of a personal pension scheme— 

(i) the trustees or managers of which are able and willing to accept payment in respect of the member’s accrued rights, and 

(ii) which satisfies prescribed requirements; 

(c) for purchasing from one or more insurance companies such as are mentioned in section 19(4)(a), chosen by the member and willing to accept payment on account of the member from the trustees or managers, one or more annuities which satisfy prescribed requirements; 

(d) for subscribing to other pension arrangements which satisfy prescribed requirements.
...
(9) An application to the trustees or managers of the scheme under subsection (1) is to be taken to have been made if it is delivered to them personally, or sent by post in a registered letter or by the recorded delivery service.”
“99
Trustees' duties after exercise of option
(1) Where— 

(a) a member has exercised the option conferred by section 95; and 

(b) the trustees or managers of the scheme have done what is needed to carry out what the member requires, 

the trustees or managers shall be discharged from any obligation to provide benefits to which the cash equivalent related except, in such cases as are mentioned in section 96(2), to the extent that an obligation to provide such guaranteed minimum pensions or give effect to such protected rights continues to subsist.

(2) Subject to the following provisions of this section, if the trustees or managers of a scheme receive an application under section 95, they shall do what is needed to carry out what the member requires— 

(a) within 12 months of the date on which they receive the application; or 

(b) in the case of a member of an occupational pension scheme, by the date on which the member attains normal pension age if that is earlier. 

(3) If— 

(a) disciplinary proceedings or proceedings before a court have been begun against a member of an occupational pension scheme at any time before the expiry of the period of 12 months beginning with the termination date; and 

(b) it appears to the trustees or managers of the scheme that the proceedings may lead to the whole or part of the pension or benefit in lieu of a pension payable to the member or his widow being forfeited; and 

(c) the date before which they would (apart from this subsection) be obliged under subsection (2) to carry out what the member requires is earlier than the end of the period of 3 months after the conclusion of the disciplinary or court proceedings (including any proceedings on appeal), 

then, subject to the following provisions of this section, they must instead do so before the end of that period of 3 months.

(4) The Board may grant an extension of the period within which the trustees or managers of the scheme are obliged to do what is needed to carry out what a member of the scheme requires— 

(a) in any case where in the opinion of the Board— 

(i) the scheme is being wound up or is about to be wound up; 

(ii) the scheme is ceasing to be a contracted-out scheme or, as the case may be, an appropriate scheme; 

(iii) the interests of the members of the scheme generally will be prejudiced if the trustees or managers of the scheme do what is needed to carry out what is required within that period; or 

(iv) the member has not taken all such steps as the trustees or managers can reasonably expect him to take in order to satisfy them of any matter which falls to be established before they can properly carry out what he requires; 

(b) in any case where the provisions of sections 52 to 54 apply; and 

(c) in any case where a request for an extension has been made on a ground specified in paragraph (a) or (b), and the Board’s consideration of the request cannot be completed before the end of that period. 

(5) A request for an extension under subsection (4) may only be made by the trustees or managers. 

(6) If the Board are satisfied— 

(a) that there has been a relevant change of circumstances since they granted an extension, or 

(b) that they granted an extension in ignorance of a material fact or on the basis of a mistake as to a material fact, 

they may direct that the extension be shortened or revoke it.”
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